't 

NO. 74008-3-I 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION I 

State of Washington, 

Respondent, 

v. 

Michael C. McKinnon, 

Appellant. 

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT 
FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY 

The Honorable George Bowden, Judge 
The Honorable Marybeth Dingledy, Judge 

BRIEF OF APPELLANT 

TOMP. CONOM 

THE CON OM LAW FIRM 
Attorney for Appellant 
7500 2121h Street SW #215 
Edmonds, WA 98026 
(425) 774-6747 

--.. ,.· 



'; tf

INTRODUCTION 

There is a critical distinction between theft by embezzlement and theft 

by deception: to commit embezzlement the actor must already have right

ful possession of the property of the wronged party, as in a trust relation

ship, and then fraudulently convert it to personal use whereas in theft by 

deception the actor must employ color or aid of deception, which is relied 

on by the wronged party, to obtain property in possession of such party. 

There is also a critical difference in the statutes of limitations governing 

these two alternative means of committing theft. Embezzlement is govern

ed by a three-year limitations period while theft by deception is subject to 

the discovery rule and a six-year statute of limitations. 

Appellant Michael McKinnon acknowledged to the wronged party, a 

homeowners association he served as accountant, that he had made a series 

of unauthorized withdrawals for personal use of funds entrusted to him for 

payment of the HOA bills and had provided the HOA with false account

ing records. Officers of the HOA considered Mr. McKinnon's misconduct 

to be embezzlement. Prior to his termination, Mr. McKinnon had repaid 

with interest the full amount of his unauthorized withdrawals. 

Years later the HOA had their attorney make a criminal referral directly 

to the Snohomish County Prosecutor. Mr. McKinnon freely admitted his 

misconduct to the police who also considered the conduct to be embezzle

ment and referred it as such to the Prosecutor. 

The criminal referral from the attorney for the HOA and from the 
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police afforded sufficient time for the Prosecutor to file a charge of theft 

by embezzlement within the applicable three-year statute of limitations. 

But the Prosecutor did not do so. The Prosecutor delayed until the three-

year limitations period expired. Instead, the Prosecutor filed a charge 

solely based on theft by deception, thereby invoking the six-year statute. 

Both on a Knapstad motion and at stipulated trial, the superior court 

conflated the evidence required to prove the alternative means of theft and 

speculated that the deception means was broad enough to encompass the 

embezzlement means. In so doing, the superior court erroneously obliter-

ated the distinction between embezzlement and theft by deception so that 

in the trial court's view, the identical facts which establish the crime of 

embezzlement simultaneously establish theft by deception. 

This reasoning directly conflicts with, and is contrary to, the theft 

statutes and the precedents of this Court and the Supreme Court. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in denying the Knapstad motion. 
(CP 418-20) 

2. The trial court erred as a matter of law in denying the Knapstad recon-

sideration motion. (CP 403-05) 

3. The trial court erred as a matter of law in entering a verdict of guilty. 
(VRP 7/8/15 at 4) 

4. The trial court erred as a matter of law in entering judgment and 

sentence. (CP 8-18) 

5. The trial court erred as a matter of law denying the motion to arrest 
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judgment. (CP 22) 

6. The trial court erred as a matter of law in denying the motion to dismiss 

for violation of the statute of limitations. (CP 22) 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

Review of statutes, including statutory interpretation in a Knapstad 

motion, is de novo. Sufficiency of evidence for a verdict is tested by ask

ing, could a rational trier of fact, taking the evidence in a light most favor-

able to the state, have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The applica-

bility of a statute of limitations is reviewed de novo if facts are undisputed. 

ISSUES 

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error in denying the Knapstad 
motion by erroneously conflating the evidence required to prove 
theft by embezzlement with the evidence required to prove theft by 
deception? 

2. Did the trial court commit reversible error in making a finding of 
guilty by erroneously conflating the evidence required to prove 
theft by embezzlement with the evidence required to prove theft by 
deception and thus find guilt based on insufficient evidence? 

3. May a person charged with theft alleged to have been committed by 
one alternative means be convicted on evidence establishing another 
uncharged means? 

4. May evidence of after-the-fact concealment of embezzlement be 
used to convict on theft by deception or is the crime of embezzle
ment complete upon conversion and concealment a mere incident 
of that offense? 

5. Did the trial court commit reversible error in failing to dismiss the 
charge of theft by deception with prejudice? 

6. May the state circumvent the three-year statute of limitations 
applicable to theft by embezzlement by charging theft by deception 
based on evidence establishing embezzlement in order to invoke 
the inapplicable six-year statute of limitations? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Nature of Action - Statement of Procedure 

A. Delay in Criminal Referral. The alleged victim, Maplevine Condo

minium Home Owners Association (hereafter MCHOA), was informed by 

its accountant, Appellant Michael C. McKinnon, in September of 2011 

that he had made a series of unauthorized withdrawals from its collected 

dues. From the time of Mr. McKinnon's self-reporting until the time of 

their Victim Impact Statement, the representatives of the MCHOA con

sidered his misconduct to be embezzlement. E.g., CP 4-7 ("Mr. McKinnon 

violated our trust by borrowing from the Association's bank accounts and 

reserve fund without permission."). 

Nevertheless, the MCHOA delayed two and a half years before asking 

for a criminal prosecution review. According to the Affidavit of Probable 

Cause (hereafter Aff. P.C.), the "[r]eason for lag time in reporting has to 

due [sic] in large part with a change in leadership within the MCHOA .... " 

On March 28, 2014, nearly six months before the expiration of the 

statute of limitations for embezzlement, the MCHOA, through counsel, 

referred the matter directly to Mark Roe, Snohomish County Prosecutor. 

Aff. P.C.; Appendix A (Bates nos. 268-69)(hereafter Letter). Thereafter, a 

police investigation was conducted by the Lynnwood Police culminating 

with an interview of Appellant on July 22, 2014 in which he admitted to 

police, as he had to the MCHOA, that he had made a series of unautho

rized loans to himself from MCHOA funds. Aff. P.C.; (Bates nos. 59-65). 
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The Lynnwood Police made a second criminal referral to the Snohom

ish County Prosecutor sometime in August, 2014 approximately one 

month before the expiration of the charging period. VRP 7/8/15 at 20. 

B. Delay in Filing Charge. Despite having been put on notice of the 

nature of the potential charge in March and again in August of 2014, the 

Prosecutor did not file a charge until January 23, 2015, more than four 

months after the expiration of the statute oflimitations. CP 454-55. When 

asked by the court why there was delay and why embezzlement was not 

charged, VRP at 18, 20, the Prosecutor responded: 

"The problem with that is that the statute of limitations is different 
for theft by deception. It's six years. For theft by embezzlement, it's 
three years. And given the timing of when this was reported and when 
this was referred to the State and when this ultimately led to a charg
ing decision, we were outside of the statute of limitations. 

"Now, I realize on the one hand that might make either, A, the 
victims of this offense, or B, the State look bad in the sense that 
we did not file charges within the statute of limitations for theft 
by embezzlement. And so it looks like we're trying to basically 
shoe horn something into theft by deception when that's not
that's not what it is." 

C. Information. The State filed a one-count Information charging first 

degree theft on the sole means of color or aid of deception during the 

period December 31, 2006 through September 9, 2011. CP 454-55. 

D. Knapstad Motion. Appellant timely filed a Knapstad motion to dis

miss pursuant to CrR 8.3( c) on the grounds the State had filed the wrong 

charge and that the undisputed evidence did not, as a matter of law, prove 

the means of deception but only established probable cause for the un

charged means of embezzlement. CP 436-450. Judge George Bowden 
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denied the motion by assuming that by the time of trial the State could 

produce a witness supporting the State's deception theory. CP 418-20. On 

the same basis, the judge denied the motion for reconsideration. CP 403. 

E. Stipulated Trial. A stipulated trial occurred before Judge Marybeth 

Dingledy. The judge stated from the bench, "I think that it may very well 

should have been charged as an embezzlement." VRP 7/8/15 at 4. How

ever, the judge opined that evidence of embezzlement could be used to 

prove deception because the two means are not mutually exclusive. "I 

think there is some overlap." Id 

F. Post-Trial Motions. Appellant moved to arrest judgment on several 

grounds including that the trial court erred as a matter of law in using 

evidence of embezzlement to establish theft by deception and that the 

charge should be independently dismissed as time-barred by the applicable 

statute oflimitations. CP 23-29. The court denied the motion. CP 405. 

G. "Windfall" to MCHOA. In addition to receiving a substantial profit 

from his payment of above-market interest on Mr. McKinnon's unauthor

ized loans, the MCHOA received an additional $ 3,000 from him more 

than two years after his employment ended. By letter dated October 9, 

2013 from the attorney for the MCHOA to Mr. McKinnon, the homeown

ers falsely represented to him that they were going to belatedly pursue an 

independent accounting and needed a substantial amount of money to do 

so. Bates nos. 270-71. Relying on this misrepresentation, Mr. McKinnon 

paid MCHOA the sum of $3,000. Bates no. 006. 
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Later, the attorney admitted to Mr. Roe that the MCHOA had never 

conducted such an independent examination but falsely claimed the MCH 

OA kept Mr. McKinnon's money to cover "potential losses it might have 

incurred from the borrowing." Letter. Other representatives of the MCH 

OA not only acknowledged to the police that the homeowners had realized 

"a positive net gain" in excess of $8,000 from interest Mr. McKinnon paid 

but also "MCHOA acknowledges repayment in full .... " Aff. P.C. 

2. Statement of Facts - Knapstad 

The following are the undisputed material facts before the Knapstad 

judge drawn from the Declarations of counsel for the parties. CP 425-39. 

Michael McKinnon was hired in June, 2006 by the Maplevine Condo

minium Home Owners "as their sole bookkeeper." Aff. P.C. He was hired 

as "a professional [accountant to] help paying the bills, receiving home

owner' s dues, monthly, et cetera. And so we hired Mike to work in that 

capacity." Interview with Janet Robinson, MCHOA representative, May 

30, 2014 at 2, Bates nos. 015-038 (hereafter Interview). "McKinnon 

performed accounting and bookkeeping services to the Association from 

2006 through 2011." Letter. 

In his accounting/bookkeeping/dues receiving/bill paying capacities, 

Mr. McKinnon was authorized to receive and deposit monthly homeowner 

dues and was a signatory on the Association checking account authorized 

to issue checks to "pay the bills." Interview at 8. He was expressly 
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authorized to issue checks to himself as payment for services rendered 

("he did pay himself for his fees and those were of record"). Interview at 6. 

During his employment, McKinnon "had been borrowing the Associa

tion's funds, for his own use, without the Association's knowledge or 

permission." Letter. According to the Information, the period of this 

unauthorized borrowing from the MCHOA bank account was from De

cember 31, 2006 through September 9, 2011. 

"Over the course of his employment he withdrew money from 

MCHOA accounts into his own bank accounts and doctored financial 

records indicating MCHOA money was invested in Cascade Savings when 

in actuality he had taken it and placed it into his own personal account." 

Aff. P.C. On July 22, 2014, when asked by Lynnwood detectives whether 

money was "taken as a loan without permission," McKinnon responded 

"yes." Bates nos. 60-61. There is no evidence that at any time McKinnon 

1) failed to timely deposit in the MCHOA bank account all dues received 

from its members, or 2) failed to timely pay any MCHOA bills in full, or 

3) caused any financial harm to MCHOA or its members, or 4) used 

deception to obtain any funds above and beyond amounts owed by mem

bers to the MCHOA or in their accounts, or 5) used deception to obtain 

funds from MCHOA individual members. 

When MCHOA complained to the Lynnwood Police Department it 

"allege[ d] embezzlement" against McKinnon. Bates no. 006. In the 

police interview with Janet Robinson, she was twice asked if she consid-
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ered this to be "unauthorized taking of money" and she twice responded 

"[i]t was unauthorized." Interview, Bates no. 38. The Affidavit of Probab-

le Cause characterizes the offense as "a pattern of theft (embezzlement)." 

McKinnon periodically paid back to the MCHOA bank account the 

money he had borrowed. By September of 2011, he had paid back all of 

the borrowed funds plus above-market interest (at a time when bank 

interest rates were at or near "0"%) resulting in a net profit to MCHOA in 

excess of$ 8,000. Aff. P.C. ("MCHOA acknowledges repayment in full 

... and a final repayment to MCHOA with a positive net gain amount of 

$ 8[,000] plus (a 6-8% interest rate per year per McKinnon))." 

3. Statement of Agreed Trial Facts - Knapstad and Stipulation 

At trial, the evidentiary record consisted of all of the evidence sub

mitted and considered at the Knapstad hearing including the Affidavit of 

Probable Cause and the Declarations of counsel, see Stipulation for Bench 

Trial on Agreed Documentary Evidence (2.2(a); ( c); (d); 2.6(a)) as sup

lemented by three additional matters: 2.2(b), (the discovery in the case), 

Appendix A (CP 30-389; Bates numbers [partial] 1-359); 2.2(e)/2.6( c) 

(characterization of funds at issue); 2.2(e)/2.6(b) (Roy Teeters). 

Stipulation 2.6( c) provides in its entirety: 

"Mr. McKinnon had access to the funds as MCHOA accountant 
during the course of each of the withdrawals during the charging 
period in this case, and had legal permission to pay himself his own 
accountant's fees directly from the MCHOA funding." 

Stipulation 2.6(b) provides in its entirety: 

"Roy Teeters was president of MCHOA during much of the charging 
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period at all times was a Board member. According to Teeters, the 
Board kept tabs on their funds via meetings during which they would 
go over financial summaries provided to them by the defendant. He 
does not recall looking directly at bank statements during these meet
ings. At no time was the Board presented with documents that con
tained the term 'Loan McKinnon' or indicated that a loan existed. The 
Board relied on records provided to them by McKinnon in knowing 
what funds they had available. The summaries provided led the Board 
to believe that their funds were securely invested. Had the Board 
learned of the loan while these transactions were being made, Mr. 
Teeters would have called a board meeting and he believes that the 
Board would have taken adverse action toward Mr. McKinnon's 
status as accountant." 

ARGUMENT 
I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Historical Distinctions Among Means of Committing Theft. 

Historically, there have been "obvious distinction[s]" among the 

various means and methods of committing the crime of theft. State v. 

Smith, 2 Wn.2d 118, 121, 98 P.2d 647 (1939). As to the two means of 

theft at issue on this appeal, embezzlement and deception, the obvious 

distinctions between theft by embezzlement and theft by false pretenses 

(the prior label of theft by deception) go back to the time of statehood. As 

our Supreme Court noted more than half a century ago, "[a]t common law 

and by statutes prior to the enactment of the criminal code in 1909, the 

two were separate and distinct offenses." State v. Emerson, 43 Wn.2d 5, 

17, 259 P.2d 406 (l953)(dis.op.). 

The essential distinction between the two kinds of theft was described 

in State v. Emerson, supra: 

" ... in the former [theft by deception] money is wrongfully obtained 
by the defendant from the complainant by some false pretense; while 
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in the latter case (embezzlement) he acquires the money rightfully in 
the capacity of an agent, bailee, trustee, etc. and then appropriates the 
same to his own use." 

Paradigm examples in the case law highlight the distinction. 

Embezzlement. When a banker who has rightful access to bank funds 

in an official capacity wrongly appropriates customers' money to personal 

use, the crime occurring is embezzlement not some other form of theft. 

E.g., State v. Larson, I23 Wash. 2I, 2I I Pac. 885 (I923). 

When a lawyer who has rightful access to client funds in a trust account 

and wrongly appropriates the clients' money to personal use, the crime 

occurring is embezzlement not some other form of theft. E.g., State v. 

Kinneman, I20 Wn.App. 327, 84 P.3d 882 (Div.I 2003). 

When an administrator of an estate who has rightful access to estate 

funds and wrongly appropriates the estate money to personal use, the 

crime occurring is embezzlement not some other form of theft. E.g., State 

v. Liliopoulos, I67 Wash. 686, 10 P.2d 564 (I932). 

When an accountant or bookkeeper who has rightful access to company 

funds and wrongly appropriates the company money to personal use, the 

crime occurring is embezzlement not some other form of theft. E.g., State 

v. Moreau, 35 Wn.App. 688, 669 P.2d 483 (Div.3 I 983); State v. Stock, 44 

Wn.App. 467, 722 P.2d 1330 (Div.I I986); State v. Smith, supra. 

Deception. When a loan applicant obtains a loan from a bank under 

false pretenses, the crime occurring is theft by deception not some other 
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form of theft. E.g., State v. Gillespie, 41 Wn.App. 640, 705 P.2d 808 

(Div.l 1985). 

When an auto dealer turns back the odometer of a vehicle or misrepre

sents the condition or history of a vehicle in order to defraud the customer 

who is induced to pay a higher price than the actual value of the car, the 

crime occurring is theft by deception not some other form of theft. E.g., 

State v. Pestrin, 43 Wn.App. 705, 719 P.2d 137 (Div. 3 1986); State v. 

George, 161 Wn.2d 203, 164 P.3d 506 (2007). 

When a government employee deceptively transfers an account receiv-

able not in the rightful possession of the employee for the benefit of the 

employee, the crime occurring is theft by deception not some other form of 

theft. E.g., State v. Monk, 42 Wn.App. 320, 711 P.2d 365 (Div.3 1985). 

When a company employee uses false representations to obtain funds 

not in the employee's rightful possession at the time of acquisition for 

personal use, the crime occurring is theft by deception not some other form 

oftheft. E.g., State v. Johnson, 56 Wn.2d 700, 355 P.2d 13 (1960). 

B. Current Statutory Distinctions Between Theft by Embezzlement 
and Theft by Deception 

Since adoption of the 1975 criminal code, there are essentially four 

distinct kinds of theft in Washington. State v. Ager, 128 Wn.2d 85, 91, 

904 P.2d 715 (1995), citing State v. Vargas, 37 Wn.App. 780, 782, 683 

P.2d 234 (Div. 1 1984). The two at issue on this appeal are embezzle-

12 



2 

3 

ment, R.C.W. 9A.56.020(1)(a), and deception, R.C.W. 9A.56.020(1)(b). 1 

The historical distinctions between embezzlement and theft by decep

tion have been maintained by the 197 5 code and the different types of theft 

remain "analytically distinct." Fine and Ende, 13B Washington Practice, 

Criminal Law 2d, sec. 2606 at 129 (1998). See e.g., State v. Ager, supra, 

128 Wn.2d at 91 ("Embezzlement is included within this state's 

general theft statute. RCW 9A.56" as is "theft by deception"). These two 

forms of theft - embezzlement and deception - constitute alternative 

means of committing the offense. State v. Linehan, 147 Wn.2d at 649. 

1. Elements of Embezzlement. The Washington Supreme Court 

states that "embezzlement occurs where property that is lawfully in the 

taker's possession is fraudulently or unlawfully appropriated by the taker." 

State v. Ager, supra, 128 Wn.2d at 91.2 The inherent aspect of fraud in the 

crime of embezzlement is emphasized by our Supreme Court in Ager 

when it declares that the "mental state required for embezzlement is an 

intent to fraudulently convert."3 Further, the Court underscored that unlike 

other forms of theft, "embezzlement involves a violation of trust." State 

v. Ager, 128 Wn.2d at 91. These principles are fully consistent with the

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