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

Deception filed within the six year statute of limitations? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. THE CRIME. 

The defendant, Michael McKinnon, was a certified public 

accountant until 1975 when the Washington State Board of 

Accountancy ("WSBA") revoked his license. CP 37-38. In 2006 and 

again in 2008, the defendant applied for a business license with the 

City of Lynnwood. The license allowed him to do business as "Mr. 

Taxman," and described his business as "bookkeeping" or 

"accounting and taxes." CP 38. 

According to the defendant, his accounting business income 

decreased significantly over a period of years while he served as 

Mayor of the City of Lynnwood. CP 92-93. The sharp decrease in 

his income had become so dire in 2006 that by 2007 he began 

"borrowing some money just for cash flow." CP 93. 
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The Maplevine Condominiums Home Owners Association 

("MCHOA") hired the defendant as their accountant in 2006, and he 

served in that capacity continuously through late 2011. CP 36. As 

bookkeeper he was allowed to receive monthly homeowners' dues 

and to pay MCHOA's bills, which included his ability to pay himself 

for his own fees. However, he did not have permission or authority 

to use the MCHOA funds for his own personal use, to write himself 

checks for any purpose other than his own fees, or to invest 

MCHOA funds anywhere he wanted. CP 51"52. 

In May or June, 2011, MCHOA decided to replace the 

defendant's accounting services by hiring a property management 

company. The MCHOA president, Janet Robinson, called the 

defendant to inform him that they were terminating their business 

relationship effective August 1, 2011. CP 53. As the August date 

approached the management company told MCHOA that the 

defendant was not turning over the accounting books as requested, 

so Janet Robinson emailed him about the issue. The defendant 

insisted that he needed to meet with her in person before turning 

over the books. CP 54. 

Janet Robinson met the defendant in person at his office, 

whereupon the defendant said, "It will not take a rocket scientist to 
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figure out that there's been money moving around from your 

account. I actually took a loan ... I've replaced all the money at a 

really high interest rate." The defendant demonstrated with financial 

records that his periodic unauthorized Joans, and subsequent 

repayments, were an ongoing feature of his handling of MCHOA 

funds. He said, "I know it was wrong ... I did it none the less." CP 

54-55. The money was stolen 1 from the MCHOA reserve account, 

which the MCHOA contributed to on a monthly basis in order to 

build up a reserve of funds for unanticipated expenses. RP 57-58. 

The trust relationship between the defendant and MCHOA never 

included permission for him to borrow any MCHOA funds for his 

personal use, or to transfer MCHOA funds into his own personal 

account (except for his agreed bookkeeping fees). He was not 

allowed to write checks to himself from the MCHOA account. CP 

49-50. 

After the defendant disclosed his thefts to Janet Robinson in 

late 2011 she immediately informed the MCHOA board members 

about the situation. CP 55. However, the board was comprised of 

1 Although the defendant and some of the State's witnesses routinely 
referred to the unauthorized transfer of funds as "borrowing," the defendant 
concedes that his actions constituted a crime of theft (embezzlement). Br. App 
26. For clarity, the State will accept the defendant's concession and refer to the 
unauthorized transfer of funds as theft. 
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elderly volunteers who did not pay sufficient attention to the 

financial statements the defendant had provided to them, and the 

members of the board were periodically changed. CP 39. In short, 

MCHOA took no action immediately after the defendant confessed 

what he had done, other than following through with their previous 

decision to hire another accountant. 

It wasn't until about two years later on October 9, 2013, that 

MCHOA sent the defendant an official letter summarizing his 

crimes and demanding a payment of $5000 to cover the cost of an 

independent audit of their records. CP 300-301. The defendant 

responded in writing on October 21, 2013. CP 302-303. In the letter 

the defendant described his ongoing thefts from MCHOA from 2006 

to 2011. He confessed that the "gross amount" of "Maplevine cash 

to McKinnon" during this six year period was $155,543,53, of which 

$21 ,300.00 was properly converted to his personal use as 

payment for his accounting fees. This left a gross theft amount, 

which he termed "borrowings," of $134,243.53. He said that he was 

"constantly re-paying the loans" such that the net theft balance 

never exceeded $52,545.14, and averaged $24,443.95 during the 

six year period. He acknowledged that he finally paid back the 

stolen funds, plus an amount of interest he calculated at "6%-8%" 

4 



ending with a series of lump sum payments totaling $23,780.15 in 

September, 2011. He refused to pay the requested $5000 for the 

audit of MCHOA records, but he did contribute $3000 toward the 

audit because he felt that amount was fair. Id. 

B. THE INVESTIGATION. 

On March 28, 2014, MCHOA's attorney sent a letter to 

Snohomish County Prosecutor Mark Roe describing the 

defendant's crimes and suggesting a review of the case for 

potential criminal charges. CP 298-299. The Snohomish County 

Prosecutor's Office is not an investigative agency. It appears that 

the Edmonds Police Department was the first agency to investigate 

the matter, but on May 23, 2014, Edmonds Police referred to the 

case to Lynnwood Police after determining that the illegal 

accounting activities and misappropriations of funds originated from 

the defendant's office located in the City of Lynnwood. CP 36. 

Lynnwood's Detective Teachworth took the lead of the 

investigation. He collected available records and interviews from 

MCHOA board members, both past and present, and investigated 

the status of the defendant's accounting license in consultation with 

the executive director of the WSBA. Detective Teachworth also 

interviewed the defendant, who voluntarily came to the Lynnwood 
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Police Department on July 22, 2014, for a non-custodial recorded 

interview. CP 89. The defendant described his role as the MCHOA 

bookkeeper, which involved keeping track of the monthly dues and 

special assessments paid by each of the owners. He was also 

responsible for paying vendors who performed services for MCHOA 

(for example, landscaping). An important part of his duties was to 

prepare an income statement for the MCHOA board showing an 

accounting of both the income (dues and assessments) and 

expenses (vendor payments). CP 89-90. This was separate from a 

balance sheet statement which also included a summary of 

MCHOA's accumulated assets and liabilities. 

The defendant said that the thefts started in 2007, possibly 

as early as December, 2006. He acknowledged that the amount of 

his periodic thefts "over a period of time ... grew to a little bit larger 

amount." CP 90. He never asked for, or received, permission to 

convert MCHOA funds to his own personal use. He admitted that 

he fraudulently misrepresented his ongoing conversion of MCHOA 

funds by describing his "loan account" with the innocuous title of 

"savings" on the balance sheet. CP 91; See, ~ CP 389 

($10,628.98 fraudulently identified as "Cascade Savings" while it 

was actually in the defendant's possession). Although he agreed it 
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was unethical, he didn't consider it stealing because he always 

intended to pay the money back plus interest. CP 92. 

Detective Teachworth referred his completed investigation to 

the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office on August 21, 2014. He 

described the defendant's crimes as "Theft 1st Degree (by 

deception}" in violation of RCW 9A.56.030. Detective Teachworth 

asserted that the ongoing crime began on December 31, 2006, and 

ended on September 30, 2011. CP 32-33. Thus, the Snohomish 

County Prosecutor's office had approximately 41 days between 

receiving Detective Teachworth's referral and the expiration of the 

standard three year statute of limitations applicable to most 

felonies. See RCW 9A.04.080(1 )(h}. 

C. THE PROSECUTION AND TRIAL. 

On January 23, 2015, the Snohomish County Prosecutor 

charged the defendant with one count of First Degree Theft by 

deception in violation of RCW 9A.56.030(1 )(a). The Information 

alleged that the defendant obtained U.S. Currency valued at more 

than $5,000 by color or aid of deception, with intent to deprive the 

owner of the currency, during the charging period of December 31, 

2006 through September 9, 2011. CP 454-455. 
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On April 7, 2015, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss 

pursuant to State v. Knapstad, 107 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 {1986). 

CP 436-450. He claimed that it was an "undisputed material 

facto ... " that the defendant "did not use deception to obtain the 

money borrowed from the homeowner's association account...". 

CP 449. The State responded in writing on April 13, 2015, and laid 

out its theory of how the defendant deceived MCHOA by supplying 

them with fraudulent balance sheets "to create or confirm a false 

impression in the victims' minds about the disposition of their 

property." CP 425-435. The State conceded that the defendant's 

initial misappropriation of funds was properly characterized as 

embezzlement, but argued that thereafter "each act of deception on 

the part of the defendant in doctoring the financial records and the 

[balance] sheets relied on by the victim operated to aid in each 

subsequent withdrawal." CP 430. 

The Court heard oral argument on April 24, 2015. 4/24/15 

RP 1-26. On Aril 30, 2015, the court issued a memorandum 

decision denying the Knapstad motion to dismiss. CP 418-420. The 

decision contains thorough legal reasoning and concludes that 

"theft by embezzlement and theft by color or aid of deception are 

not mutually repugnant." CP 420. The Court agreed with the 
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prosecutor's reading of State v. Mehrabian as standing for the 

proposition that "it is not necessary that deception be the sole 

means of obtaining the property or services and that it may include 

conduct amounting to an inducement achieved by creating a false 

impression ... " CP 420, citing State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 

678, 700, 308 P.3d 660 (Div. 1, 2013). 

Defendant filed a motion for reconsideration, which the court 

denied on May 5, 2015, with another thorough letter to both parties' 

counsel. CP 403-404, 405, 406-417. 

On June 29, 2015, the court accepted the parties' Stipulation 

for Bench Trial on Agreed Documentary Evidence and set a 

hearing for July 8, 2015, for entry of a verdict, findings of fact, and 

conclusions of law. See CP 399-400; 7/8/15 RP 2; 2 CP __ (Sub 

#39 Stipulation for Bench Trial on Agreed Documentary Evidence). 

The stipulation established the agreed set of documents containing 

the facts the court was allowed to consider, but also included the 

additional facts set forth in paragraph 2.6 of the Stipulation for 

Bench Trial on Agreed Documentary Evidence. 2 CP _ . 

At the July 8, 2015, hearing Judge Marybeth Dingledy 

announced her decision as the trier of fact. Her written findings of 
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fact establish that the State proved the following beyond a 

reasonable doubt: 

That on or about December 31, 2006 through September 9, 
2011, in the State of Washington, the defendant obtained 
control over US currency in an amount exceeding $5000, 
this currency belonging to another, by color or aid of 
deception, and with the intent to deprive such other of this 
property. 

2 CP _ {Stipulation for Bench Trial on Agreed Documentary . 

Evidence at 5.). The court also made oral findings explaining in 

more detail the nature of the deception employed by the defendant 

and how that deception helped facilitate the ongoing thefts. The 

Court said: 

[T]he deception that I saw in this case had to do with 
essentially the hiding of the assets. The assets were not 
couched as a loan to Mr. McKinnon in this case. They were 
described as being securely invested; that is the deception 
that I see in this case. 

I did look at one of the agreed stipulated facts, 
specifically under Section 2.6(b), and that was what Mr. 
Teeters had indicated. He indicated that at no time was the 
board presented with documents that contained the term 
"loan" to McKinnon, or any indication that the loan existed. 

The board did rely on the records provided to them by 
Mr. McKinnon in knowing what funds they had available. 
They had been led to believe that those funds were securely 
invested; in fact, they were not. They were not available had 
some sort of situation come up and the board needed those 
funds, so I do think that 'that is the deception. I do find that 
that's deception, and I will find Mr. McKinnon guilty of the 
charge. 
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7/8/15 RP 4-5. The defendant has not assigned error to any of the 

trial court's findings of fact on appeal. Br. App. 2-3. 

The court did not impose sentence right away, but rather 

rescheduled it for August 25, 2015. 2 CP _ (Sub # 40, Order 

Setting Sentencing Date). Meanwhile, the defendant filed a Motion 

for New Trial and to Arrest Judgment. CP 23-29. The court denied 

the motion. CP 22. 

The court imposed a standard range sentence of 30 days in 

jail, but on the agreed recommendation of the parties converted 

that time to 240 hours of community service. CP 11. The trial court 

stayed execution of the judgment pending this appeal. 2 CP _ 

(Sub #52, Conditions of Release Pending Appeal). 

Ill. ARGUMENT 

The Brief of Appellant assigns error to six of the trial court's 

legal rulings but does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence 

supporting any of the court's findings of fact. Br. App. 2-3. Although 

the defendant has presented his appeal as six discreet issues, the 

State's response will respond to all of defendant's arguments within 

the framework of the three issues identified above: the appealability 

of the Knapstad ruling, the factual and legal support for the trial 
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court's guilty verdict, and the determination of whether the charge 

was filed within the applicable statute of limitations. 

A. THE DENIAL OF A KNAPSTAD MOTION TO DISMISS. IS 
NOT SUBJECT TO APPELLATE REVIEW. 

The defendant has cited State v. Knapstad for the 

proposition that the trial court's denial of his Knapstad motion to 

dismiss is "an error of law which may be reviewed on appeal." Br. 

App. 31, citing State v. Knapstad, 107 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 

(1986) and State v. Bauer, 180 Wn.2d 929, 934, 329 P.3d 67 

(2014 ). The citation to Knapstad is inappropriate because that case 

holds the direct opposite: "A defendant has no right to appeal a 

denial of the motion to dismiss." State v. Knapstad, 107 Wn.2d at 

357, citing RAP 2.2(a). Instead the defendant argues in a footnote 

that "Bauer trumps literal application of the rule." Br. App. 31, fn. 17. 

However, the defendant fails to mention that the procedural 

posture of the Bauer case was substantially different than this case. 

The Bauer trial court stayed the pending trial in order to allow the 

defendant to petition the Court of Appeals for discretionary review. 

State v. Bauer, 174 Wn. App. 59, 66, 295 P.3d 1227 (2013) rev'd, 

180 Wn.2d 929, 329 P.3d 67 (2014). This unique procedural 

posture was warranted because the case involved "a controlling 
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question of law as to which there is substantial ground for a 

difference of opinion." State v. Bauer, 180 Wn.2d at 934. In 

contrast, the trial judge in this case never imposed a stay until after 

final judgment was entered, and long after the Knapstad motion 

had been denied. 2 CP _ (Sub #52, Conditions of Release 

Pending Appeal). 

Regardless of when a court is asked to examine the 
sufficiency of the evidence, it will do so using the best factual 
basis then available. For this reason, a defendant who 
presents a defense case in chief "waives" (i.e., may not 
appeal) the denial of a motion to dismiss made at the end of 
the State's case in chief, and a defendant who goes to trial 
may not appeal the denial of a Knapstad motion. This does 
not mean that a defendant is barred from claiming 
insufficiency at a late stage of the proceedings, merely 
because he or she failed to do so earlier; it does mean, 
however, that the claim will be analyzed using the most 
complete factual basis available at the time the claim is 
made. 

State v. Jackson, 82 Wn. App. 594, 608-09, 918 P.2d 945 (1996). 

The defendant has supplied no binding, or even compelling, legal 

authority casting doubt on the longstanding legal principal that 

denial of a defendant's Knapstad motion to dismiss is not a final 

judgment subject to appellate review. This Court should decline to 

address the Knapstad ruling. 
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B. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE TRIAL COURT'S 
VERDICT OF GUil T ON THE CHARGED OFFENSE OF FIRST 
DEGREE THEFT BY COLOR OR AID OF DECEPTION. 

The defendant asserts that the trial court did not have a legal 

basis to enter a finding of guilt on the charged offense, casting the

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